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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

X

ROBERT LEE WIGGINS, in his individual capacity and on

behalf of others similarly situated,

Plainaffs, Case No.: I (p CV— 54159
-against- COMPLAINT

THE GARDEN CITY GOLF CLUB a/Ida GARDEN CITY Jury Trial Demanded
MEN'S CLUB d/b/a GARDEN CITY GC

Defendant.
X

Plaintiff Robert Lee Wiggins ("Plaintiff'), on behalf of himself and all others similarly

situated employees of Defendant, by and through his attorneys, Frank & Associates, P.C., as and for

his Complaint in this action against Defendant, The Garden City Golf Club a/Ida Garden City Men's

Club d/b/a Garden City GC ("Defendant"), hereby alleges as follows:

INTRODUCTION

1. Plaintiff and other similarly situated golf caddies bring this action to redress past wrongs and

seek future protections. The golf caddies work exclusively for Defendant's golf club during

the season from March to December. This action is brought as collective actions pursuant to

Rule 23a ofthe FRCP.

2. Throughout their employment, golf caddies have been classified as neither employees nor

independent contractors, and as a result have been deprived ofbasic rights guaranteed to all

employees under Federal, State and Local Laws.

3. The golf caddies have been disenfranchised, as Defendants have deprived them of basic

statutory protective benefits required under Federal and State Laws. For example, Defendant

does not make contributions for 'statutory benefits required by Federal Law such as Social
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Security and Medicare, or State Unemployment Insurance. Furthermore, golfcaddies are not

protected under federal, state, and local laws against discrimination or for Workers'

Compensation Insurance.

4. Plaintiff, and about twenty-five (25) to seventy (70) other similarly situated golf caddies

employed by Defendant, routinely work more than forty (40) hours each work week. They

are not paid any wages at all by Defendant, and receive neither the minimum wage required

by Federal and State law, or overtime wages, when they work more than forty (40) hours a

week which they do on a regular basis.

5. The golf caddies report to work each day at a regular starting time. They are managed and

supervised by Defendant's Caddy Master. They receive assignments and duties and are

subjected to discipline by the Caddy Master. In all aspects of their employment, the golf

caddies are employees, but they are treated as one would robots who require only regular

programming daily "turn on" and maintenance.

6. In light ofthese violations, Plaintiff, and others similarly situated, bring this action to recover

unpaid wages pursuant to the Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938, 29 U.S.C. 201, et. seq.

(hereinafter "FLSA") and under the common law for such damages as may be determined for

negligent or intentional infliction ofemotional distress, unjust enrichment and the deprivation

of employment benefits required by Federal and New York State Law.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

7. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. 201, et. seq.

and as a federal question pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 1331.

8. Venue is proper in the United States District Court, Eastern District ofNew York, pursuant

to 28 U.S.C. 1391.
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PARTIES

9. Plaintiff and most members ofthe class are residents ofthe State ofNew York, residing in the

County ofNassau.

10. Plaintiff and other similarly situated caddies work or worked at Defendant's golf course

located at 206 Stewart Avenue, Garden City, New York 11530.

11. A golf caddies job duties include carrying golfbags with clubs and golf balls weighing up to

seventy (70) pounds along the eighteen (18) hole golf course up to two rounds per day,

retrieving golf balls, and identifying players' individual golf balls on the course.

12. At all times relevant, Plaintiffand other similarly situated golfcaddies are "employees" within

the meaning of 29 U.S.C. 203(e).

13. Upon information and belief, Defendant is a domestic, not-for-profit corporation with its

principal place of business located at 315 Stewart Avenue, Garden City, New York, County

ofNassau.

14. Upon information and belief, at all times relevant, Defendant had annual gross revenues in

excess of $500,000 and engaged in commerce within the meaning of the FLSA 206(a) and

207(a).

15. Defendant is an "employer" within the meaning of 203(d) ofthe FLSA, 29 U.S.C. 203(d).

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

16. Plaintiff Wiggins worked exclusively at Defendant's golf club as a golf caddy for eighteen

(18) years from 1997 to 2015.
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17. As a golf caddy, Plaintiffwas responsible for carrying golf clubs weighing up to seventy

(70) pounds, finding and retrieving golfballs, and identifying players' golf balls located on

the course.

18. At all relevant times, Supervisor George Ozzollete ("Ozzollete") was the Caddy Master and

was directly responsible for the regular supervision and oversight of the work performed by

the caddies.

19. Ozzollete oversees the work of between twenty-five (25) and seventy (70) golf caddies on a

single day.

20. Defendant's golf course is open six (6) days a week from 7:30 am to closing time, which time

varies depending on factors, such as available light, weather conditions and the number of

golfers playing the course at dusk.

21. Golfcaddies report to work at Defendant's clubhouse (the "Caddy Hut") to wait for Ozzollete

to assign them to assist a specific golfer or golfers in a group for a round on the 18-hole golf

course.

22. Golfcaddies typically work one or two rounds per day. During each round, the caddy is able

to carry either one or two bags.

23. A round of golf may typically last up to four and a half (4 1/2) hours. After finishing an

"early" round, as part ofregular duties, a caddy will clean the member's golf clubs and return

to the Caddy Hut to wait for a new assignment.

24. Both before and after a round, while waiting for a new assignment, Ozzollete instructs and

directs the golf caddies to perform miscellaneous tasks, such as transporting bags from

members' cars to the clubhouse or moving caddy carts around the premises as is necessary to

accommodate the members.
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25. A single round, including the cleaning of clubs and performing miscellaneous tasks while

waiting for a new assignment, takes up to five (5) hours.

26. On days when the golf caddies work two rounds, they work up to eleven (11) hours. Plaintiff

estimates that he worked two rounds per day at least three (3) days per week.

27. Ozzollete controls the schedule of each caddy, pairing them with golfers at his discretion.

Those caddies report to work and are paired with a golfer at or about 7:30 am, are more likely

to work two rounds, and can carry a total of two to four bags each workday.

28. Defendant requires caddies to wear a specific uniform in the performance of their duties.

Caddies must wear beige khakis, a white collared shirt, white sneakers, and a beige hat. The

hat and shirt display the club's logo.

29. While the golf caddies are permitted to purchase the khakis and sneakers at a store of their

choosing, the shirt and hat adorned with the club logo must be purchased from Defendant.

30. Defendant does not require the golfcaddies to purchase a designated number of shirts or hats,

but does mandate that the caddies wear clean garments each day, thus requiring caddies to

purchase more than one shirt and hat from Defendant.

31. Defendant instructs its members on how much to pay caddies for a round. The pay scale is

currently $80.00 per bag plus a discretionary gratuity ofup to $20.00 or more per round.

32. Throughout the year, the Club hosts numerous golf tournaments, often lasting an entire

weekend, Friday through Sunday, or Thursday to Saturday.

33. When there are tournaments, the caddies report to Ozzollete at normal hours, but must abide

by a stricter work schedule and more defined policies and procedures.

34. Thus, on those occasions, if a caddy is unable to report to work when scheduled, he must

advise Ozzollete in advance.
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35. On tournament days, Plaintiff and the other caddie's hours would often exceed ten (10) hours

per day, typically associated with two rounds of golf, and their work would continue until all

golfers had completed their rounds, depending on light conditions.

36. On other days, if a caddy required a personal day, the request had to be made to Ozzollete in

advance. When a caddy is late or absent, without warning or explanation, Ozzollete often

withheld rounds from the caddy the following work day.

37. Also, as necessary, Ozzollete will assign golf caddies to Cherry Valley Club, another private

golf club in Garden City, to help with caddy services.

38. In sum, the golf caddies provide golf-related services to Defendant's members, which are

integrated and essential to allow Defendant's normal golf operations to proceed.

39. At all times relevant, Defendant failed to keep records ofthe hours worked each day or week

or to compensate the golfcaddies for their hours ofwork. Further, Defendant willfully failed

to compensate the caddies for overtime hours they regularly worked in excess of forty (40)

hours per week, at a rate of at least one and one-half times the mandated minimum wage.

40. Caddies did not receive notification about their annual earnings in the form of a Federal W-2

or even a 1099, and as a result the Federal and State governments were deprived of the

revenues and other contributions required as a result ofemployment.

41. Contributions are not made on behalf of caddies for Social Security, Medicare or

Unemployment Insurance and the caddies are deprived of the benefits of those mandated

Federal and State benefit programs.

42. Caddies are not covered by insurance coverage for accidents which occur on or offthe job, in

the form of Workers' Compensation or Disability benefits insurance coverages required by

New York State law.
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43. Defendant willfully disregarded and purposely evaded all record keeping employment

requirements of various laws, including but not limited to the FLSA, by failing to maintain

accurate time and payroll records.

FEDERAL RULE OF CWIL PROCEDURE
RULE 23 CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

44. Plaintiff alleges and incorporates by reference all allegations in all preceding paragraphs.

45. Plaintiff represents a class consisting of all golf caddies employed by Defendant from 2013

to the date ofjudgment. Plaintiff and the members ofthe proposed class have been subjected

to the same unlawful practices that result from failing to be classified as employees.

46. Plaintiff brings this claim on behalf of himself and a class of persons under Rule 23 of the

Federal Rules ofCivil Procedure consisting ofall golf caddies who work or have worked for

Defendant in the three (3) year period preceding the filing of the Complaint, and (1) did not

receive minimum wage or overtime wages provided for under the FLSA, and (2) suffered

emotional distress on the basis ofDefendant's failure to provide mandated federal benefits of

employment associated with the caddies' status as employees ofDefendant.

47. Plaintiff brings this action seeking minimum and overtime wages for golf caddies who, as a

result of Defendant's willful conduct, were classified neither as employees or independent

contractors during the course oftheir employment.

48. Plaintiff additionally seeks monetary damages arising from Defendant's conduct in failing to

provide Social Security, Medicare and Workers' Compensation insurance coverage for its

caddies.
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A. Class Definition

49. The proposed Rule 23 Class consists of all golf caddies employed by Defendant from 2013

until the date ofjudgment. Upon information and belief, there are approximately up to fifty

(50) members ofthe proposed class.

50. Plaintiff is a member ofthe Class he seeks to represent.

51. Defendant's unlawful conduct as described above persists to this day.

52. Plaintiff reserves the right to amend the Class defmition based on discovery.

B. Efficiency of Class Prosecution of Class Claims

53. Certification ofthis class ofgolfcaddies similarly situated to Plaintiff is the most efficient and

economical means for resolving the questions of law and fact that are common to Plaintiff

and members ofthe proposed class.

54. Plaintiff s individual claims and their resolution will resolve the common questions of the

proposed class.

55. Plaintiff seeks remedies to eliminate Defendant's willful violation ofthe FLSA and to recover

unpaid minimum wage and overtime wages rightfully earned and due to the members ofthe

proposed class.

56. Plaintiffadditionally seeks to eliminate Defendant's unlawful practices which led to the denial

ofmandated federal benefits ofemployment and thereby caused Plaintiff and members ofthe

proposed class to suffer severe mental and emotional distress.

57. Plaintiffhas standing to seek such reliefbecause ofthe effect Defendant's conduct has had on

him individually and on the golf caddies generally. These injuries are redressable through

systemic relief, such as equitable and injunctive relief, as well as other reliefas this Court sees

fit.
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58. To obtain reliefon behalfofboth the Plaintiffand the members ofthe proposed class, Plaintiff

will first establish that the golf caddies were employees of Defendant. Plaintiff will then

establish that the Defendant's unlawful policies and practices harmed Plaintiff and the

members ofthe proposed class. Absent class certification, a large number ofsimilarly situated

persons will be forced to prosecute their common claims in multiple forums simultaneously,

leading to inefficient use ofjudicial resources and the unnecessary duplication of efforts and

expense that numerous individual actions engender.

59. A class action is superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient adjudication of

this litigation, particularly in the context of the wage and hour portion ofthis litigation. The

proposed members of the class have been damaged and are entitled to recovery as a result of

Defendant's common and uniform policies, practices, and procedures.

C. Numerosity and Impracticability ofJoinder

60. The proposed class that Plaintiff seeks to represent is so numerous that joinder ofall members

is impracticable.

61. The precise number of persons eligible for the class is unknown, but such information is

readily ascertainable from Defendant. Upon information and belief, there are up to fifty (50)

similarly situated individuals in the class.

62. Current employees may fear to assert their rights out of fear of direct or indirect retaliation.

Former employees may be fearful of bringing claims because doing so can harm their

employment, future employment, and future efforts to secure employment. Class actions

provide class members who are not named in the complaint a degree of anonymity which

allows for the vindication oftheir rights while eliminating or reducing those risks.
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D. Common Questions of Law and Fact

63. The adjudication of Plaintiff s claims will directly result in the adjudication of numerous

questions of law and fact common to the members ofthe proposed class.

64. Those common issues include; (i) whether Defendant misclassified the members of the

proposed class by failing to treat them as employees; (ii) whether Defendant's conduct was

willful; (iii) whether Defendant failed to pay the members of the proposed class minimum

wage in violation of the FLSA; (iv) whether Defendant failed to pay the members of the

proposed class overtime wages at one and one-half (1.5) times their hourly wage rate for all

hours worked over forty (40) hours per week; (v) whether Defendant's unlawful conduct of

withholding insurance coverage constituted intentional infliction of emotional distress; and

(vi) whether Defendant was unjustly enriched.

65. The policies, procedures, and practices implemented by Defendant were applied to all

members of the proposed class.

66. The common issues of law and fact affecting the proposed members ofthe class predominate

over any issues affecting solely Plaintiff.

67. Although the relative damages suffered by individual class members are not de minimis, such

damages are small compared to the expense and burden of individual prosecution of this

litigation. In addition, class treatment is superior because it will obviate the need for unduly

duplicative litigation that might result in inconsistent judgments regarding Defendant's

practices.

E. Typicality of Claims and Relief Sought

68. The claims of Plaintiff are typical of the claims of the proposed class he seeks to represent.

Plaintiff s claims are typical of those claims which could be alleged by any member of the
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proposed class, and the relief sought is typical of the relief which would be sought by each

member of the proposed class in separate actions.

69. Similar to the members of the proposed class, Plaintiff is a golf caddy working exclusively

for Defendant.

70. All ofthe members ofthe proposed class were subject to Defendant's failure to pay minimum

and overtime wages in violation of the FLSA and were thus treated in the same and similar

ways.

71. Similarly, all ofthe members ofthe proposed class were deprived ofmandated federal benefits

of employment, such as insurance coverage, associated with their status as employees of

Defendant.

72. The relief necessary to remedy the claims ofPlaintiff is the same as that necessary to remedy

the claims ofthe proposed class members.

73. Plaintiff seeks the following relief for his individual claims and for the claims ofthe members

of the proposed class: (1) unpaid wages for all hours worked; (2) unpaid overtime wages for

all hours worked in excess of forty (40) hours per week at a rate of one and one-half times the

minimum wage; (3) an equal amount of liquidated damages; (4) damages for intentional

infliction of emotional distress; and (5) damages for unjust enrichment.

F. Adequacy of Representation

74. Plaintiff s interests are akin to those ofthe members of the proposed class. Plaintiff seeks to

remedy Defendant's FLSA violations of failing to pay its employees minimum and overtime

wages and Defendant's unlawful conduct of not providing mandated federal benefits of

employment to its employees.
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75. Plaintiff is willing and able to represent the members of the proposed class fairly and

adequately since he was a member of the class for more than eighteen (18) years.

76. Plaintiffhas retained counsel competent and experienced in complex class actions and in labor

and employment litigation having engaged in employment litigation for over fifty (50) years,

Plaintiff s counsel can competently litigate the individual and class claims sufficiently to

satisfy Rule 23(a)(4) of the Federal Rules ofCivil Procedure.

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION
FOR FAILURE TO PAY MINIMUM WAGE

IN VIOLATION OF THE FAIR LABOR STANDARDS ACT

77. Plaintiff alleges and incorporates by reference all allegations in all preceding paragraphs.

78. Defendant willfully failed to compensate Plaintiff and other similarly situated individuals by

not paying the minimum wage for hours worked in violation ofthe FLSA.

79. Because Defendant's violations of the FLSA have been willful, a three-year statute of

limitations applies, pursuant to 29 U.S.C. 255.

80. As a result ofDefendant's unlawful acts, Plaintiffand other similarly situated individuals have

been deprived legally required compensation and are entitled to recovery of such amounts,

liquidated damages, attorneys' fees and costs pursuant to 29 U.S.C. 216(b).

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION
FOR FAILURE TO PAY OVERTIME WAGES

IN VIOLATION OF THE FAIR LABOR STANDARDS ACT

81. Plaintiff alleges and incorporates by reference all allegations in all preceding paragraphs.

82. Defendant willfully failed to compensate Plaintiff and other similarly situated individuals by

failing to pay overtime wages for all hours worked in excess of forty (40) hours per week at a

rate of at least one and one-half times their regular hourly rate, in violation ofthe FLSA.
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83. Because Defendant's violations of the FLSA have been willful, a three-year statute of

limitations applies, pursuant to 29 U.S.C. 255.

84. As a result ofDefendant's unlawful acts, Plaintiffand other similarly situated individuals have

been deprived of their overtime compensation and are entitled to recovery of such amounts,

liquidated damages, attorneys' fees and costs pursuant to 29 U.S.C. 216(b).

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION
FOR INTENTIONAL INFLICTION OF EMOTIONAL DISTRESS

85. Plaintiff alleges and incorporates by reference all allegations in all preceding paragraphs.

86. Defendant's conduct towards Plaintiff and members of the proposed class was intentional,

reckless, extreme, and outrageous, and caused Plaintiff and members ofthe proposed class to

suffer severe emotional distress.

87. As a result of Defendant's conduct, Plaintiff and other similarly situated individuals suffered

mental and emotional distress, including, but not limited to, stress and anxiety, and are entitled

to an award ofmonetary damages and other relief.

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION
FOR UNJUST ENRICHMENT FOR DEPRIVATION OF BENEFITS

88. Plaintiff alleges and incorporates by reference all allegations in all preceding paragraphs.

89. Defendant failed to make contributions and deduct for statutory benefits required by law such

as Social Security and Medicare benefits.

90. As a result of Defendant's conduct, Defendant retained substantial benefits and has been

unjustly enriched and Plaintiff and members ofthe proposed class are entitled to an award of

monetary damages and other relief.
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DEMAND FOR A TRIAL BY JURY

91. Pursuant to Rule 38(b) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Plaintiff demands a trial by

jury on all questions of fact raised by the Complaint.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffprays for the following relief:

(i) Certification ofthis case as a class action pursuant to Rule 23 ofthe Federal Rules ofCivil

Procedure;

(ii) Designation ofPlaintiff as a representative ofthe Rule 23 Class, and counsel of record as

Class Counsel;

(iii) Award Plaintiff and other similarly situated individuals unpaid wages pursuant to 29

U.S.C. 201 et. seq. and the supporting United States Department of Labor

regulations, plus an equal amount of liquidated damages pursuant to 29 U.S.C.

216(b);

(iv)Award Plaintiff and other similarly situated individuals overtime wages pursuant to 29

U.S.C. 201 et. seq. and the supporting United States Department of Labor

regulations, plus an equal amount of liquidated damages pursuant to 29 U.S.C.

216(b);

(v) Compensatory damages;

(vi) Issuance of a declaratory judgment that the practices complained of in this Complaint are

unlawful under the aforementioned statutes;
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(vii) All attorneys' fees and costs incurred in prosecuting these claims;

(viii) Such other relief as this Court deems just and proper.

Dated: Farmingdale, New York
October 27, 2016

FRANK & ASSOCIATES, P.C.

Attorneysfor Plaintiff

Neil M. Frank, Esq.
500 Bi-County Boulevard, Suite 465

Farmingdale, New York 11735
T: (631) 756-0400
F: (631) 756-0547

nfrank@laborlaws.com
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Please list all cases that are arguably related pursuant to Division ofBusiness Rule 50.3.1 in Section VIII on the front of this form. Rule 50.3.1 (a)
provides that "A civil case is "related" to another civil case for purposes of this guideline when, because ofthe similarity of facts and legal issues or

because the cases arise from the same transactions or events, a substantial saving ofjudicial resources is likely to result from assigning both cases to the

same judge and magistrate judge." Rule 50.3.1 (b) provides that A civil case shall not be deemed "related" to another civil case merely because the civil

case: (A) involves identical legal issues, or (B) involves the same parties." Rule 50.3.1 (c) further provides that "Presumptively, and subject to the power
of a judge to determine otherwise pursuant to paragraph (d), civil cases shall not be deemed to be "related" unless both cases are still pending before the
court."

NY-E DIVISION OF BUSINESS RULE 50.1(d)(2)

1.) Is the civil action being filed in the Eastern District removed from a New York State Court located in Nassau or Suffolk

County: NO

2.) Ifyou answered "no" above:
a) Did the events or omissions giving rise to the claim or claims, or a substantial part thereof, occur in Nassau or Suffolk

County? YES

b) Did the events or omissions giving rise to the claim or claims, or a substantial part thereof, occur in the Eastern

District? YES

If your answer to question 2 (b) is "No, does the defendant (or a majority of the defendants, if there is more than one) reside in Nassau or

Suffolk County, or, in an interpleader action, does the claimant (or a majority of the claimants, if there is more than one) reside in Nassau

or Suffolk County? N/A

(Note: A corporation shall be considered a resident of the County in which it has the most significant contacts).

BAR ADMISSION

I am currently admitted in the Eastern District ofNew York and currently a member in good standing of the bar ofthis court.

MI Yes 0 No

Are you currently the subject of any disciplinary action (s) in this or any other state or federal court?

0 Yes (If yes, please explain) MI No

I certify the accuracy of all information provided above.

Signature: 1/1e4'bi/7 -g;?-e101
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
for the

Eastern District ofNew York

Robert Lee Wiggins, in his individual capacity and on

behlaf of others similarly situated

Plaintiff(s)
v. Civil Action No. 1(6, sq 5c1

The Garden City Golf Club a/k/a Garden City Men's
Club d/b/a Garden City GC

Defendant(s)

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant's name and address) The GardenCity Golf Club a/k/a Garden City Men's Club d/b/a Garden City GC
CIO New York Secretary of State
One Commerce Plaza
99 Washington Avenue
Albany, New York 12231

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service ofthis summons on you (not counting the day you received it) or 60 days ifyou
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.

P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules ofCivil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff's attorney,
whose name and address are:

Frank & Associates, P.C.
500 Bi-County Boulevard, Suite 465
Farmingdale, New York 11735

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the reliefdemanded in the complaint.
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

DOUGLAS C. PALMER
CLERK OF COURT

Date:
Signature ofClerk or Deputy Clerk
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Civil Action No.

PROOF OF SERVICE

(This section should not befiled with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (0)

This summons for (name ofindividual and title, fany)

was received by me on (date)

0 I personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date);or

0 I left the summons at the individual's residence or usual place ofabode with (name)

a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,

on (date), and mailed a copy to the individual's last known address; or

71 I served the summons on (name ofindividual),who is

designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name oforganization)

on (date);or

0 I returned the summons unexecutedbecause;or

En Other (specibr):

My fees are for travel and for services, for a total of 0.00

I declare under penalty ofperjury that this information is true.

Date:
Server's signature

Printed name and title

Server's address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:


